
VERO BEACH UTILITIES COMMISSION MINUTES 
Tuesday, October 18, 2016 – 9:00 a.m. 

City Hall, Council Chambers, Vero Beach, Florida  
 

PRESENT:  Chairwoman, Laura Moss; Vice Chairman/Indian River Shores Representative, Robert 
Auwaerter; Members: Chuck Mechling, Judy Orcutt, Stephen Lapointe, Bill Teston, and Alternate 
Member #1, George Baczynski Also Present: City Manager, James O’Connor; Finance Director, Cindy 
Lawson; Water and Sewer Director, Rob Bolton, and Senior Administrative Assistant, Rita Hawkins 
 
Excused Absence: J. Rock Tonkel 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
Today’s meeting was called to order at 9:00 a.m. 
 
2. PRELIMINARY MATTERS 
 

A) Approval of Minutes 
 
1. September 13, 2016 

 
Mr. Teston made a motion to approve the minutes of the September 13, 2016 Utilities Commission 
meeting.  Dr. Lapointe seconded the motion and it passed unanimously.  
 

B) Agenda Additions, Deletions, and Adoption 
 
Mrs. Moss asked if there were any objections to discussing item 4-D before item 4-A).  There was no 
objection from the Commission members.    
 
3. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
Mrs. Moss stated that she would like to comment on a letter that appeared in the Press Journal 
newspaper on October 12, 2016.  The letter was titled “Don’t let one pocket of interest alter sale of Vero 
utility.”  She continued by reading a sentence from the letter, “The three other candidates support not 
the full, but the sale of the Indian River Shores portion.”  She said she is one (1) of the three (3) 
candidates that the letter is talking about, which was written by City Councilmember Richard Winger.  
The letter also contained disparaging personal remarks that she feels were unwarranted and unbecoming 
of a City Councilmember and she would hope for an apology.  To correct the record on where she stands 
on the full sale, she would like to read two (2) sentences into the record, which are from existing 
minutes of Utility Commission meetings.  From the minutes of May 2, 2016, on page 10 it reads “Mrs. 
Moss made a motion that in order to honor the will of the voters who approved referenda supporting the 
sale of the City’s electric to FPL that the Utilities Commission advise the City Council to join in 
discussions regarding the sale of the entire system.”  From the May 10, 2016 Utilities Commission 
meeting minutes she would like to read her response to the propose capital expenditures of $21 million 
dollars over 20-years for the utilities infrastructure.  She said it reads “For this Commission to 
recommend a 20-year expenditure flies in the face of the will of the people who voted twice by 
referendum to sell the entire Vero Beach electric system.”  She feels that the wrong impression was 
given in the letter.  The Indian River Shores offer expired on August 25, 2016, but this letter gives the 
impression that the offer still stands.  The other misperception that is prorogated by this letter is that 
there is a five (5) year contract for the sale of entire system, which expires at the end of this year (2016).  

Utilities Commission – 10/18/16                                               1 | P a g e  
 



She stated as a reminder that the Power Plant is closed and no longer generating power.  They will have 
a presentation on the demolition of the Power Plant at the next Utilities Commission meeting. 
 
4. NEW BUSINESS 
 
Item 4-D) was discussed prior to item 4-A). 
 

A) Post-Hurricane Utilities Update – Mr. Jim O’Connor, City Manager; Mr. Rob 
Bolton, Water and Sewer Director; Mr. Monte Falls, Public Works Director 

 
Mr. Jim O’Connor, City Manager, said that he will be speaking on behalf of Mr. Monte Falls, Public 
Works Director, because he is still dealing with some issues from the storm.  He explained that the City 
hired a contractor to pick up the piles of vegetation on the sides of the roads.  In the City’s opinion, one 
of the easiest ways of disposing of the vegetation was to burn it on the old Dodgertown site.  They got 
the site approved with the Florida Department of Environmental Protection and they received a permit 
from the Department of Forestry.  It was critical to the City to pick up the debris as quickly as possible.  
If the City would have taken it to a landfill, the amount hours spent on the road would have taken away 
from the pickup time, so they determined that it had to be disposed of in the City.  The other 
determination was the cost.  They are paying $8.40 per cubic yard to dispose of the material, so this will 
be about a $450,000 project.  If they shredded it or took it to the landfill it would have cost a little over 
$14.00 per ton.  The Department of Forestry put a hold on the burning for a while because they thought 
some of the debris might be too green and the only thing being burned is vegetation.  They had the Fire 
Department, the Department of Forestry, and the contractor watching the site to make sure they were 
abiding with the rules.  They heard residents concerns about the smoke, which was a product of the 
green vegetation and they are trying to resolve that issue with the Department of Forestry.   
 
Mrs. Moss asked how long will it take to pick up most of the debris. 
 
Mr. O’Connor stated that they are hoping to have it done within 10 days from last Saturday.  The 
contractor has five (5) trucks, but they have to use smaller trucks and equipment on the Island because 
there are so many canopy streets.   
 
Mrs. Moss asked if the $450,000 for the cleanup will come out of Solid Waste Fund or the Emergency 
Fund. 
 
Mr. O’Connor replied that it will come out of the General Fund.  They anticipate on spending a little 
over $3 million, but that is subject to change.  They will be making insurance claims.  The General Fund 
will take a lot of the hit and about $1.8 million will come from the Electric Utility.   
 
Mrs. Moss asked if there was any impact to the Water and Sewer department.  
 
Mr. O’Connor replied no.  The City kept the water pressure on the lines and there was potable water 
running through the system during the entire storm.  They had four (4) incidences of manholes and a lift 
station flooding.  They lost some power to some lift stations, but the Waste Water Treatment Plant had 
no issues.  In the electric analysis report they received it shows what the City’s status was (on file in the 
City Clerk’s office).  Immediately they had over twenty thousand customers who lost power, but they 
were pretty much back on line by late Saturday.  They still had some outages due to poles being down 
that were not easily accessible without big equipment.  The hospital did not lose power and the schools 
were back open on Monday.  They tried to quickly get to the neighborhoods that included people who 

Utilities Commission – 10/18/16                                               2 | P a g e  
 



registered with the City as having medical issues as well as the senior facilities.  They did not put any of 
the linemen at risk and safety was the main issue.  
 
Mr. Auwaerter asked how many other utilities assisted the City.  
 
Mr. O’Connor stated that there were four (4) or five (5) other utilities.  Dodgertown and some of the 
local hotels provided housing for these crews.  Every morning they had a meeting at the Airport to brief 
and dispatch the crews so they knew where they were going and how to get back safely.  The recovery 
for about 90 percent of the customers was good, but there were some unique issues that had to be dealt 
with.  The spreadsheet shows the ups and downs of the restoration due to temporarily connecting the 
power and then cutting it again when they went back to replace poles.  They started releasing crews on 
Tuesday so they could head north to assist other areas.  
 
Mr. Teston said that 90% of the customers were restored by Sunday, but when was the full recovery 
completed.  
 
Mr. O’Connor stated that is questionable, because with them restoring power and then taking it back 
down for further repairs it is hard to say.    
 
Mr. Teston commented that parts of Central Beach did not lose power and other parts were out for days.  
 
Mr. O’Connor replied that a lot of that was due to the tree canopies and trees coming down on the lines.  
At one point all of Central Beach lost power, but they got a lot of it restored quickly.  There were 
considerable amounts of lines in the backyards of properties, which made it difficult to get some repairs 
done and that is why there were staggered outages in that area.  They utilized all certified law 
enforcement personnel to assist with security along Ocean Drive, Miracle Mile, downtown along 14th 
Avenue, and Royal Palm Pointe, because those are the major retail centers.  They had crews cleaning up 
the City Parks on Saturday and the lifeguards were back on duty on Sunday.  
 
Mr. Baczynski stated that the Osceola Park neighborhood has a website where neighbors can 
communicate and get information.  The Police Department joined their site so they received alerts and 
information.  It would be helpful if other City departments, especially the Utilities would join in so 
people could receive updates.  The Utilities could post a notice about where they are working and how 
long it might be for recovery.   
 
Mr. O’Connor explained that they did use the Police Department’s facebook page to publish 
notifications as well as the City’s website.  Immediately following the storm the City had a follow up 
meeting to discuss where they fell short and communication was the main issue.  The Electric 
Department is also going to set up its own facebook page.  The City already has an emergency 
notification system on order and hopes to have it in place by January.  It will be utilized for all of the 
City utilities, but customers will need to register with a phone number so they can receive notices. 
 
Mrs. Moss said that Mr. Fletcher told her that he was in contact with Mr. O’Connor every 15 to 20 
minutes during the storm and she feels they did a great job.  She agrees that communication with the 
public is a problem they have had for a long time. 
 
Mr. O’Connor commented that he relies on the news agencies and they all have his cell phone number.  
It was decided that he would be the Public Information Officer for the City during the storm and most of 
the information flowed through him that was given to the press.  Osceola Park was another issue for the 
City, because there are so many trees and a lot of them are old.      

Utilities Commission – 10/18/16                                               3 | P a g e  
 



 
Mr. Mechling stated that Mr. Roger Kelly, Crew Chief, who was restoring power in his neighborhood 
was very positive, gracious, and an excellent representative of the City.  They were an efficient and 
extremely tight crew that worked hard to get the job done in a professional manner.  
 
Mr. O’Connor said he appreciates that feedback, because these crews were working 12 to 15 hour shifts 
a day.  They made sure that the crews were not too tired to work to keep them safe.   
 
Mrs. Moss thanked Mr. O’Connor and the City staff for all their hard work.  She said they did a 
wonderful job. 
  
Mr. Mucher said that he read somewhere that FMEA coordinated the recovery and asked if that was 
true.  
 
Mr. O’Connor replied that FMEA was involved and they knew what crews came into the State.  The 
City was working through the American Public Power Association (APPA) who dispatched the crews, 
but APPA goes through the State organization that handles that.  The City utilized independent private 
line crews that they have contracts with first and then the APPA crews arrived about 24 hours after the 
storm.   
 
Mr. Mucher reported that the crews picking up the vegetation are blocking off entire sections of roads 
without any signs indicating “road closed” or “men working”.  He suggested that the City have portable 
signs available for the contractors to use in situations like this.   
 

B) Review of Signage and Educational Material for STEP System – Mr. Rob Bolton, 
Water and Sewer Director 

 
Mrs. Moss explained that she saw a presentation on the Septic Tank Effluent Pump (“STEP”) System 
during a City Council meeting, so she invited Mr. Rob Bolton, Water and Sewer Director, to their 
meeting to give the same presentation.  She said it is good to get complete information out to the 
community about the STEP system.  
 
Mr. Bolton explained that what they are experiencing is that most of the STEP system connections they 
are making are due to septic tank failures.  A new installation of a septic system will last about 25 years.  
The drain field normally fails first and has to be replaced, but the life expectancy will usually only be 
another 10 to 15 years.  What he sees on the Barrier Island is that the older homes from the 1950’s and 
1960’s are experiencing problems and want to change over to the STEP system.  At this time it is not a 
mandatory connection program, unless there is a failure of the drain field.  If the drain field fails then 
people either need to connect to the STEP system or the sewer system if it is available.  
 
Mrs. Moss commented that Mr. Bolton is trying to encourage people to partake in the STEP system or at 
least think about it prior to septic tank failure.  She said she believes that there are also informational 
signs about the system. 
 
Mr. Bolton said that Mr. Charlie Pope retired from the Youth Sailing Foundation and he has a real 
concern about the Indian River Lagoon, so he teamed up with Mrs. Orcutt and they came up with some 
ideas for signs.  At the last City Council meeting it was approved that the City can purchase the signs.  
When a customer signs up for the STEP system installation they will provide the contractor with a sign 
for the homeowner to place in their yard.  They have not finalized the details, but the signs will be 
promotional in nature.  The next area that will be receiving notifications about the STEP system will be 

Utilities Commission – 10/18/16                                               4 | P a g e  
 



the Live Oak area.  The notifications start a time clock for an incentive plan that was approved by City 
Council.  It offers a 30 or 35 percent savings if homeowners connect within a year of being notified.  
They anticipate several people will sign up at that time.  
 
Mr. Auwaerter asked if the contractor or the City installs the portion of the system that is on the 
customer’s property.  
 
Mr. Bolton stated that it is done by the septic tank contractor.  The lines in the right-of-way are done by 
the City or a hired contractor, but the homeowner hires a septic tank contractor that has been certified to 
install the STEP system.   
 
Mr. Auwaerter asked what is the warranty from the private contractor.  
 
Mr. Bolton explained that the minute the system is installed the customer is completely covered by the 
City for the life of the system.  The homeowner’s warranty includes filters, pump replacements, repairs, 
pump outs, etc.  The City has a five (5) year warranty from the company that supplies all the parts and 
pieces and that starts once it is installed.  
 
Mr. Auwaerter commented that if this information is not on the City’s website it should be.   
 
Mr. Bolton continued by making a presentation of the components of the STEP System and how it 
works.  He said if the homeowners cannot use or chooses not to use the existing septic tank and drain 
field then there is a 500-gallon chamber under the basin.  This design will provide about 350 gallon of 
storage incase the power goes out, which is about 3 or 4 days of back up for a typical size home. 
 
Mr. Teston asked if this was a gravity type system, or if a pump is required to use the bathroom 
facilities.  
 
Mr. Bolton replied that it is a gravity system.  However, if the drain field is not being used they will only 
have what room is remaining in the basin and the septic tank before they will start to notice a sluggish 
system, which is estimated at about 350 gallons.    
 
Mr. Teston asked if larger homes with more people can have more than one system.  
 
Mr. Bolton replied yes.  They can be customized for larger estate homes, multi-family homes, etc.  
 
Mr. Bolton continued showing and explaining the other components of the STEP system. 
 
Mr. Auwaerter asked how often do they clean the filters in the biotech tube.   
 
Mr. Bolton stated that the filter is cleaned about every two (2) years.  It is a very simple procedure where 
they remove the dirty filter, insert a clean filter, and the dirty filter is taken away to be pressure washed.  
The system also has alarms that will sound to notify the owner if certain problems should occur.  
 
Mr. Mechling asked if the pump is low enough voltage that people could turn it on while using a 
generator.   
 
Mr. Bolton replied that it is a half horsepower pump and only requires 110 voltage and 12.9 amps, so it 
will be connected to any 20-amp circuit in the home.  He showed the control panel and explained that it 

Utilities Commission – 10/18/16                                               5 | P a g e  
 



has a standard plug at the bottom for a generator and a switch inside that changes it from main to 
generator. 
 
Mr. Baczynski asked where is the control panel installed.   
 
Mr. Bolton explained that it will be on the outside of the house convenient to where the STEP system is 
installed so it can be seen while they work on the system.   
 
Mr. Baczynski asked if the alarms will also be recorded at the Water and Sewer Department so they are 
aware of a problem.  
 
Mr. Bolton replied that there is a spot in the control panel for a monitoring device, but they are not using 
them until they have more systems in place.  It will notify the City if there is a high-level alarm, a 
communication failure, or a low-level/long running pump alarm.  He said the least expensive option is 
the set up that he just showed them, which cost $2,425 for the equipment and about $3,000 for 
installation.  A full replacement with the 500-gallon tank plus this equipment will cost about $7,000 to 
$7,500.  The total cost for an average 3-bedroom home will be $5,200 to $7,200 including the discount 
if the homeowner has it installed within one year of being notified.  He explained that the City decided 
to give a credit of $290 to property owners who have existing septic tanks on their property.  
 
Mr. Baczynski asked if a customer has the STEP with a failed drain field and there is a power failure, 
will it automatically flow over into the drain field even though it has failed.  
 
Mr. Bolton explained that if a customer has a sluggish drain field that is not bubbling up through the 
ground they can still use this version of the STEP system.  If a drain field is not used for a few years the 
bacteria has time to clean up the drain field and it will be fine for any overflow if it happens.  
 
Mr. Teston said the City needs to make sure people know where to get immediate information on the 
STEP system.  
 
Mr. Bolton explained that if people go to www.COVB.org, or Google septic tank affluent pump they 
will be directed to the City’s website site and there is an app that people can download.  The app breaks 
it down and will guide them through the information easier than the website.  When they send out future 
letters they will include the information on connecting to the app.  
 

C) Discussion of Installation of STEP System (Canopied Streets) with Regard to 
Proposed Change in Code Sec. 71.14 Rights-of-Way Required to be Improved – Mr. 
Rob Bolton, Water and Sewer Director 

 
Mrs. Moss stated Mrs. Marylou Hammond submitted a letter expressing her concerns about the STEP 
system and the trees along canopied streets.  
 
Mr. Bolton explained that Mrs. Hammond has fought to make sure the tree canopies in Central Beach 
remain there for 45 to 50 years.  The City had to install a new water line down her street and they are 
connecting the last couple of customers.  Mrs. Hammond was just worried about having another opening 
in the street in that heavily canopied area.  Forty years ago it was determined that the Central Beach area 
was fine for septic systems, but back then there was no concern about nutrient loading into the Lagoon.  
However, in the last five (5) years fertilizer Ordinances and septic sewer conversions have been 
established.  He said he explained to Mrs. Hammond that he had received calls from residents in Central 
Beach about converting to the STEP system.  Mrs. Hammond asked him if the City could leave certain 

Utilities Commission – 10/18/16                                               6 | P a g e  
 

http://www.covb.org/


streets until last.  He said that she understands if someone needs to connect to the STEP system that they 
have to provide it, but she would prefer they wait as long as possible to run the lines.  That decision 
would be up to the Utility Commission who previously voted to move forward with the canopy streets.  
 
Mrs. Moss said that Mrs. Hammond told her that this is one of the last Oak hammocks in the State.  
There is a real value to these trees beyond their natural beauty. 
 
Mr. Bolton said that the way those canopy trees are in the Central Beach area he would not suggest 
running gravity sewer in there, because the roads are so narrow.  However, the STEP system would not 
disrupt the trees root base by running a pipe under the ground.  Oak trees have a shallow root structure 
of about two (2) feet, but the pipe for the STEP system is about three (3) feet deep.   
 
Mr. Auwaerter asked what is the diameter of the opening they are creating underground.  
 
Mr. Bolton replied that it is about 4-inches in diameter for the 2-inch pipe.  They literally push a pole 
through the ground and pull the 2-inch pipe back through it.   
 
Mr. Auwaerter commented that the impact on the root system of a decent size tree is very minimal.  
 
Mrs. Orcutt said that Mr. Bolton has the experience installing lines on other streets.  These are not the 
only canopy streets the City has and they have not had any problems with affecting the trees.   
 
Mr. Bolton stated that he only made one (1) change to the revised Ordinance that they received (on file 
in the City Clerk’s office).  He added the statement (except a septic tank effluent pump “STEP” sewer 
system installed by directional boring methods) to the Ordinance, but the rest is just general changes to 
make the wording more standardized. 
 
Dr. Lapointe said that in Mrs. Hammond’s letter she stated that there was a study done.  
 
Mr. Bolton replied that it was a Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) study and they are 
trying to determine what type of credit that cities could get for converting from septic systems to sewer.  
DEP started creating a model of the areas and establishing credits based on how far the properties were 
from the Lagoon, but they ran into some problems with their calibrations of their testing system.  He 
said Mrs. Hammond wants to wait on the study, but he is not sure it will ever be completed.  
 
Mrs. Orcutt asked Mr. Bolton if he needs support to move ahead (with the Ordinance). 
 
Mr. Bolton stated if the Commission could vote on it to indicate they looked at it and approve the 
language changes then he can report that to the City Council and to the Planning and Zoning Board.   
 
Mrs. Orcutt made a motion to accept the language changes to the Ordinance.  Mr. Auwaerter 
seconded the motion.  On a roll call vote the motion passed 7-0 with Mr. Baczynski voting yes, Mr. 
Teston voting yes, Dr. Lapointe voting yes, Mr. Mechling voting yes, Mrs. Orcutt voting yes, Mr. 
Auwaerter voting yes, and Mrs. Moss voting yes.  
 
Mrs. Orcutt suggested posting this video segment on the City’s website, because it clarifies a lot of 
issues.  It would be another way of getting the information to the customers.  
 
Mr. Teston asked how much is the customer’s monthly bill for the STEP system.  
 

Utilities Commission – 10/18/16                                               7 | P a g e  
 



Mr. Bolton replied that the minimum bill is $19.89 and then it is based on their  water usage up to 
10,000 gallons.  The maximum bill will be just under $56.00, but for a typical household the bill will be 
in the $35.00 to $40.00 range.    
 

D) Third Quarter FY 15-16 Electric Utility Rate Sufficiency Study – Mr. James 
O’Connor, City Manager  

 
This item was discussed before item 4-A) 
 
Ms. Cindy Lawson, Finance Director, stated that the handout they received is the third quarter Electric 
Utility Rate Sufficiency (on file in the City Clerk’s office).  This is where they take the actual sales, 
revenue, and expenses from the purchased power providers and compare them to the original forecast.  
Just to make it clear, sometimes their original forecast does not match the adopted budget.  As a result of 
this analysis which ended June 2016, the City Staff recommended that they further lower the purchase 
power cost from $63.15 per 1,000 kWh to $61.65 per 1,000 kWh effective October 15, 2016.  That is a 
decrease of about 1.3 percent on a typical 1,000 kWh bill.  This analysis was reviewed by their rate 
consultant and they concur with this recommendation pending the completion of the rate study.  They 
are asking to set up a joint meeting of the Finance Commission and the Utilities Commission on 
November 15th to look at the results of the rate study, which will include the 2015/2016 actual and 
2016/2017 adopted budget.  The rate consultant feels this rate reduction is sustainable over the next year.  
She pointed out that this analysis is updated to reflect the latest cost estimates for staffing, the closure of 
the Power Plant, and the estimate of funds required for capital projects as a result of the optimization 
study.   
 
Mr. Auwaerter stated it appears there were two (2) primary drivers of this decrease.  The sales actually 
went up from their forecast and the Orlando Utilities Commission (OUC) power costs were slightly 
lower.  
 
Ms. Lawson said that is a good analysis.  It was a really hot summer, so that impacted the sales.  The 
OUC forecast was based on what they thought it would be at the time they renegotiated the contract, so 
they are doing a little better.  
 
Mr. Auwaerter asked if OUC was passing through lower fuel costs.  
 
Ms. Lawson replied that she does not know that.  
 
Mr. Auwaerter said he thinks that is important to understand, because the Utility Commission signed off 
on that contract on the basis that they would get lower costs from OUC that is separate from the 
purchase power cost.  He said he does a monthly analysis of other municipal electric utilities, which is 
shown on the spreadsheet that he provided to the Utility Commission members (on file in City Clerk’s 
office).  He said that he looks at the other 33 electric utilities and in particular Fort Pierce, because they 
are similar in size to Vero Beach.    
 
Ms. Lawson said that her understanding is that Fort Pierce is utilizing a reserve that they created from 
having extra revenue to rate stabilize and decrease the actual cost from what it would be to cover 
expenses as they sit right now.  Once that extra revenue is gone their rates will have to rise.   
 
Mr. Auwaerter said that since they are not gaining much ground against Fort Pierce and Orlando, he 
would like to know if the OUC contract is helping them on the basis of the base power rate and not just 
the purchase costs going down.    

Utilities Commission – 10/18/16                                               8 | P a g e  
 



 
Ms. Lawson explained that she deals more with the bottom line figures and is not the correct person to 
do a detailed analysis of the individual components of the OUC contract as compared to what the 
expectations were.  
 
Mrs. Moss asked Ms. Lawson if she could ask the rate consultants to address that question and provide 
them with information beforehand so they will be prepared to discuss this subject at their November 
meeting. 
 
Ms. Lawson explained that the rate consultants are not necessarily the right people to do a detailed cost 
analysis of the elements of the OUC contract.  That would be more of an item for Mr. Bill Harrington 
and Attorney Scheff Wright to address, because they were the individuals who negotiated that contract 
and they have the best understanding of it.   
 
Mr. Auwaerter stated that they receive bills from OUC that break down the fuel and other costs, so he 
believes the City should be able to do an analysis. 
 
Mrs. Moss asked if the City could provide that information to the Utilities Commission. 
 
Mr. O’Connor replied that they will try their best, but it might require the assistance of Mr. Harrington 
and Mr. Wright to do the analysis.  
 
Mrs. Moss asked how many rate consultants does the City utilize and how much has been spent on them 
in the past fiscal year. 
 
Ms. Lawson replied that there is only one (1) rate consultant, which is Public Resources Management 
Group (PRMG) and their initial work authorization was for about $35,000.  PRMG got to the point 
where they were going to set rates, but that got put on hold while the City renegotiated the OUC contract 
and handled the closure of the Power Plant, both of which impacted their costs.  PRMG has now 
reinvigorated it and she believes they will be completing it for about the same amount of money. 
 
Mrs. Moss asked if Mr. Harrington bills separately from PRMG. 
 
Ms. Lawson explained that Mr. Harrington is a separate consultant through Mr. Wright’s firm as part of 
the OUC contract.   
 
Mr. O’Connor stated that these are two (2) different functions they are discussing.  The rate consultant 
are doing the rate study and projecting the rate analysis.  The renegotiation of the OUC contract became 
a legal issue when the City took the position on wanting to shorten the terms of the contract and this is 
where Mr. Harrington and Mr. Wright came in.   
 
Mrs. Moss asked what is the mission or goal of PRMG.  
 
Mr. O’Connor replied their job is to set their rates going forward and to review the rates opposed to the 
way the City has been doing it in the past.  Ms. Lawson looks at the expenditures versus the revenue to 
determine the rates.  PRMG will break that down to identify what costs are associated with fees and the 
rates the City charges.  The City has a standing contract with PRMG that they will review the rates over 
time to make sure they are still on course.  
 

Utilities Commission – 10/18/16                                               9 | P a g e  
 



Mrs. Moss said that she is wondering what the value is of this, because the City has already paid 
Gardner Bist over a million dollars.  If they are only seeing periodic decreases of 1.3 percent, it is not 
significant enough that customers will actually notice it in their bills.   
 
Mr. O’Connor explained that the million dollars paid to Gardner Bist is not just for the OUC contract.  It 
is also for defense for the City and when the County sued the City.    
 
Mrs. Moss asked what portion of the bills are devoted to rates. 
 
Ms. Lawson replied that every time she pays a Gardner Bist bill she provides the City Clerk with a copy 
of the break down by billing matters.  The City is required to do periodic rate studies and publish rate 
sheets.  Since 2009 the City staff has done a good job of managing to the bottom line and building 
reserves.  However, they have not updated the old rate sheets and they need that for a variety of reasons.  
Over time the established rates drift away from the actual demographic, so they have to consider if the 
costs have been assigned to the proper portions of the rates.  That is the function of a rate consultant. 
 
Mr. O’Connor stated the rate sheets are also submitted to the Public Service Commission to make sure 
they are treating all of the rate classes equally.  The Public Service Commission posts the City’s rate 
structures, which has to be certified through a rate consultant.  
 
Ms. Lawson said that in the preliminary rate study they discovered that in some areas the City was over 
recovering in one part of a rate and under recovering in another part.  Anytime they tweak a portion of 
the rates they have an impact on some customer class.  When they start making adjustments to rates they 
look at the impacts to the different customer classes and they continue to move things around until they 
reach a point where they think it is equitable.  That is a function of a rate consultant as well. 
 
Mrs. Moss stated that she just wants the breakdown on what is being spent on rate consultants.   
 
Mr. O’Connor replied that he will have it provided to the City Clerk’s office.  
 
Mr. Mark Mucher, City resident, stated that the City’s residential rates are still 30% higher than FP&L 
rates even with this minimal decrease.  He said that a lot of the candidates running for City Council are 
talking about further reductions of rates, but when the OUC contract was renegotiated the last projected 
rate reduction was October 1, 2016.  According to that document the rates will now be trending up for 
the City of Vero Beach.  When the City Council was discussing the partial sale they refused to ask the 
rate consultant what the impact of a $30 million dollar cash influx would do, but he believes it would 
have reduced the rates.  The power cost may have reduced a little bit, but they are in a better position 
because the City’s revenue has increased more than the power costs.  These little decreases that the 
customers have been receiving are reflected in lower purchase power costs, but he would like to know 
where the increased revenue is reflected in the customers utility bills.  
 
Ms. Lawson explained that with the current rate sheets, the only component of cost they can reduce or 
modify on a quarterly basis is the purchase power costs.  The point of the PRMG rate study was to 
analyze all of the components of the rates against the costs so they are ready to discuss what buckets the 
rate decreases should fall into.  This will be addressed at the November 15th joint meeting.  
 
Mr. Peter Gorry, Finance Commission Chairman, stated that the second largest utility in the State of 
Florida has 1.7 million customers and has a rate that is $4.84 a month less than the City of Vero Beach.  
There are three (3) other regulated utilities in the State that average $134.00 per month for residential 
customers.  The average residential usage for City of Vero Beach customers is 1,060 kWh.  If they take 

Utilities Commission – 10/18/16                                               10 | P a g e  
 



away Indian River Shores the average usage would be 950 kWh with a new rate of $110.00.  Indian 
River Shores residential usage is up to 40% higher than the non-Indian River Shores customers.  The 
discussion that Indian River Shores is 8.7% of the total kWh usage does not mean they are 8.7% of the 
revenues.  
 
Mr. Auwaerter said he disagrees.  It is in Mr. Wright’s analysis and he should look at it.   
 
Mr. Gorry said it is incorrect to say that 8.7%  of kWh is equal to 8.7% of the revenues because it is a 
tiered structure.  Usage of over 1,000 kWh kicks into the next billing tier.  He believes that Mr. Wright 
is understating the amount of revenue.  He said he does not even know how many customers there are in 
Indian River Shores.  Based on the report, the estimate is 3,000 to 3,400 
 

E) All Requirements Project, FMPA Matters – Mr. James O’Connor, City Manager 
 
Mr. O’Connor stated that he received a report from Ms. Lawson and since November 2014 when they 
engaged PRMG to review the rates the City has spent $40,867.00.  When PRMG got involved in the   
OUC contract it was $41,085.00, so that is what they have been paid to date.  He stated that the All 
Requirements project has not really changed and he periodically listens to their Board meetings.  The 
policies they have in place are good and they are not extending debt anymore.  The debt service will not 
be extended on one (1) of the OUC plants, so some of the debt service will start to go away and it will be 
reflected in their rates.  
 
Mrs. Moss stated that the fact that they dropped the penalty cost by $13 million dollars was favorable to 
the City.  
 
Mr. O’Connor replied that the big figure was from the Taylor Swaps.  The City’s position was that they 
were not part of the Taylor Swaps and they had already given their notice that they were exiting.  They 
were able to pull up some Public Service Commission (PSC) records that showed their testimony 
excluded Vero Beach.    
 
Mr. Auwaerter stated that FMPA is only looking at one side of the income statement.  They say there are 
all these total costs that have to be spread out among all the participants.  Vero Beach is not part of it, 
but they are still on the hook for it.  FMPA does not think of the revenue side.  To take this to an 
extreme, if everyone dropped out except one (1) the last participant would own all the equity.  Their 
calculations don’t take into account that Vero Beach must have some equity in ownership since they 
have some costs.  He is really troubled by their methodology.   
 

F) Solar Power Survey Update – Vice Chairman Auwaerter 
 
Mr. Auwaerter reported that the Task Force had a series of long conference calls.  They put out a request 
for proposals to several folks and gave them a basic list of items they had to respond to.  The evaluation 
was done by looking at their operational factors such as does the organization make the calls themselves 
versus subcontracting it,  do they use computer assisted telephone interviewing  (CATI), do they have 
expertise in putting together solar surveys, cost, and project time.  It was a scoring system and there was 
fair consistency in picking the top three (3).  The organization that was picked was Great Blue.  His big 
concern with them is that they did not talk at all about other solar surveys they did.  That weighed 
heavily with him, but the other members on the Task Force felt comfortable that they would help them 
put together a good solar survey.  Great Blue did come in at a lower cost than the others.     
 

Utilities Commission – 10/18/16                                               11 | P a g e  
 



Mr. O’Connor said the other issue was if they were going to survey commercial businesses.  The City 
agreed to do that, but there is an additional cost.  The cost is based on number of customers they choose 
to survey, but they will only be paying for complete responses and not partial surveys.  The City made 
up a list of smaller mom and pop shops along Ocean Drive and in downtown along 14th Avenue where 
they felt that the person answering the call could actually make a decision on what could take place with 
solar energy.  
 
Dr. Lapointe asked if the raw data from the surveys will be available to the public.  
 
Mr. Auwaerter replied that it was his understanding that all the data would be available, but they may 
screen the names and addresses.  
 
Mr. O’Connor commented that all the data is public information, but you may need to go to the provider 
of the service and pay to get names and addresses.  
 
Mrs. Orcutt asked if this company is going to create the questions or will it be the Committee.  
 
Mr. Auwaerter said it will probably be a combination.  
 
Mr. Baczynski asked if there was a time line for this.  
 
Mr. O’Connor said that he got the impression it would be done by the first of the year. 
 
Mr. Auwaerter said the time line is factored on putting the survey together and they are trying to 
organize people from around the State.  Great Blue had an aggressive time line that he thought was 
unrealistic compared to the other companies.  They want to get a report to the FMPA Board of Directors 
by early February.   
 
5. OLD BUSINESS  
 

A) Distribution of Information by the City Clerk’s Office 
 
Mrs. Moss stated that when items are voted on by their Commission it is a recommendation to the City 
Council, but she was informed that they do not get submitted just as separate recommendations.  She 
asked Mrs. Tammy Bursick, City Clerk, if that is correct. 
 
Mrs. Tammy Bursick, City Clerk, explained that the City Council receives copies of their minutes to 
read through.  If there is something that they would like to specifically point out to the City Council she 
recommends that a separate cover letter be typed up and the minutes will be attached.  That is a sure sign 
that they didn’t miss anything while reading the minutes.  
 
Mrs. Moss said she feels that it should go as a separate piece of information and not imbedded in several 
pages of minutes.  That does not seem like a logical or efficient method and not just for this 
Commission, but for all Commissions.  
 
Mr. Auwaerter said for an example Mr. Bolton asked for support on the Ordinance of the STEP system 
and they made a motion that was passed.  It seems like the City Council would like to know about that 
separately.     
 

Utilities Commission – 10/18/16                                               12 | P a g e  
 



Mrs. Bursick replied that on items like this they will note it on the memo that the Utility Commission 
voted unanimously to accept the Ordinance.  With a lot of these items the Finance Director will send 
them to the City Council stating that the information has gone to the various Commissions.  
 
Mrs. Moss said she believes that anything that is voted on by any of the Commissions should be 
addresses separately.   
 
Mrs. Bursick said that there is no problem sending a memo to the City Council listing the items that 
were voted on and the outcome.  
 
Mrs. Moss asked if they can automatically do a memo and make sure the other Commissions and Boards 
are handled the same way.  
 
Mrs. Bursick replied yes they can handle it the same way for the other Commissions.    
 
Mr. Gorry explained that any recommendations made by the Finance Commission are either put on the 
City Council agenda or are presented by himself or another Finance Commission member at the City 
Council meeting.  
 
6. CHAIRMAN’S MATTERS 
 
None 
 
7. MEMBER’S MATTERS 
 
None 
 
8. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Mr. Auwaerter made a motion to adjourn today’s meeting at 11:42 a.m.  Mr. Mechling seconded the 
motion and it passed unanimously.  
 
/rh 

Utilities Commission – 10/18/16                                               13 | P a g e  
 


	VERO BEACH UTILITIES COMMISSION MINUTES
	Tuesday, October 18, 2016 – 9:00 a.m.
	City Hall, Council Chambers, Vero Beach, Florida 
	PRESENT:  Chairwoman, Laura Moss; Vice Chairman/Indian River Shores Representative, Robert Auwaerter; Members: Chuck Mechling, Judy Orcutt, Stephen Lapointe, Bill Teston, and Alternate Member #1, George Baczynski Also Present: City Manager, James O’Connor; Finance Director, Cindy Lawson; Water and Sewer Director, Rob Bolton, and Senior Administrative Assistant, Rita Hawkins
	Excused Absence: J. Rock Tonkel
	1. CALL TO ORDER
	Today’s meeting was called to order at 9:00 a.m.
	2. PRELIMINARY MATTERS
	A) Approval of Minutes
	1. September 13, 2016
	Mr. Teston made a motion to approve the minutes of the September 13, 2016 Utilities Commission meeting.  Dr. Lapointe seconded the motion and it passed unanimously. 
	B) Agenda Additions, Deletions, and Adoption
	Mrs. Moss asked if there were any objections to discussing item 4-D before item 4-A).  There was no objection from the Commission members.   
	3. PUBLIC COMMENT
	Mrs. Moss stated that she would like to comment on a letter that appeared in the Press Journal newspaper on October 12, 2016.  The letter was titled “Don’t let one pocket of interest alter sale of Vero utility.”  She continued by reading a sentence from the letter, “The three other candidates support not the full, but the sale of the Indian River Shores portion.”  She said she is one (1) of the three (3) candidates that the letter is talking about, which was written by City Councilmember Richard Winger.  The letter also contained disparaging personal remarks that she feels were unwarranted and unbecoming of a City Councilmember and she would hope for an apology.  To correct the record on where she stands on the full sale, she would like to read two (2) sentences into the record, which are from existing minutes of Utility Commission meetings.  From the minutes of May 2, 2016, on page 10 it reads “Mrs. Moss made a motion that in order to honor the will of the voters who approved referenda supporting the sale of the City’s electric to FPL that the Utilities Commission advise the City Council to join in discussions regarding the sale of the entire system.”  From the May 10, 2016 Utilities Commission meeting minutes she would like to read her response to the propose capital expenditures of $21 million dollars over 20-years for the utilities infrastructure.  She said it reads “For this Commission to recommend a 20-year expenditure flies in the face of the will of the people who voted twice by referendum to sell the entire Vero Beach electric system.”  She feels that the wrong impression was given in the letter.  The Indian River Shores offer expired on August 25, 2016, but this letter gives the impression that the offer still stands.  The other misperception that is prorogated by this letter is that there is a five (5) year contract for the sale of entire system, which expires at the end of this year (2016).  She stated as a reminder that the Power Plant is closed and no longer generating power.  They will have a presentation on the demolition of the Power Plant at the next Utilities Commission meeting.
	4. NEW BUSINESS
	Item 4-D) was discussed prior to item 4-A).
	A) Post-Hurricane Utilities Update – Mr. Jim O’Connor, City Manager; Mr. Rob Bolton, Water and Sewer Director; Mr. Monte Falls, Public Works Director
	Mr. Jim O’Connor, City Manager, said that he will be speaking on behalf of Mr. Monte Falls, Public Works Director, because he is still dealing with some issues from the storm.  He explained that the City hired a contractor to pick up the piles of vegetation on the sides of the roads.  In the City’s opinion, one of the easiest ways of disposing of the vegetation was to burn it on the old Dodgertown site.  They got the site approved with the Florida Department of Environmental Protection and they received a permit from the Department of Forestry.  It was critical to the City to pick up the debris as quickly as possible.  If the City would have taken it to a landfill, the amount hours spent on the road would have taken away from the pickup time, so they determined that it had to be disposed of in the City.  The other determination was the cost.  They are paying $8.40 per cubic yard to dispose of the material, so this will be about a $450,000 project.  If they shredded it or took it to the landfill it would have cost a little over $14.00 per ton.  The Department of Forestry put a hold on the burning for a while because they thought some of the debris might be too green and the only thing being burned is vegetation.  They had the Fire Department, the Department of Forestry, and the contractor watching the site to make sure they were abiding with the rules.  They heard residents concerns about the smoke, which was a product of the green vegetation and they are trying to resolve that issue with the Department of Forestry.  
	Mrs. Moss asked how long will it take to pick up most of the debris.
	Mr. O’Connor stated that they are hoping to have it done within 10 days from last Saturday.  The contractor has five (5) trucks, but they have to use smaller trucks and equipment on the Island because there are so many canopy streets.  
	Mrs. Moss asked if the $450,000 for the cleanup will come out of Solid Waste Fund or the Emergency Fund.
	Mr. O’Connor replied that it will come out of the General Fund.  They anticipate on spending a little over $3 million, but that is subject to change.  They will be making insurance claims.  The General Fund will take a lot of the hit and about $1.8 million will come from the Electric Utility.  
	Mrs. Moss asked if there was any impact to the Water and Sewer department. 
	Mr. O’Connor replied no.  The City kept the water pressure on the lines and there was potable water running through the system during the entire storm.  They had four (4) incidences of manholes and a lift station flooding.  They lost some power to some lift stations, but the Waste Water Treatment Plant had no issues.  In the electric analysis report they received it shows what the City’s status was (on file in the City Clerk’s office).  Immediately they had over twenty thousand customers who lost power, but they were pretty much back on line by late Saturday.  They still had some outages due to poles being down that were not easily accessible without big equipment.  The hospital did not lose power and the schools were back open on Monday.  They tried to quickly get to the neighborhoods that included people who registered with the City as having medical issues as well as the senior facilities.  They did not put any of the linemen at risk and safety was the main issue. 
	Mr. Auwaerter asked how many other utilities assisted the City. 
	Mr. O’Connor stated that there were four (4) or five (5) other utilities.  Dodgertown and some of the local hotels provided housing for these crews.  Every morning they had a meeting at the Airport to brief and dispatch the crews so they knew where they were going and how to get back safely.  The recovery for about 90 percent of the customers was good, but there were some unique issues that had to be dealt with.  The spreadsheet shows the ups and downs of the restoration due to temporarily connecting the power and then cutting it again when they went back to replace poles.  They started releasing crews on Tuesday so they could head north to assist other areas. 
	Mr. Teston said that 90% of the customers were restored by Sunday, but when was the full recovery completed. 
	Mr. O’Connor stated that is questionable, because with them restoring power and then taking it back down for further repairs it is hard to say.   
	Mr. Teston commented that parts of Central Beach did not lose power and other parts were out for days. 
	Mr. O’Connor replied that a lot of that was due to the tree canopies and trees coming down on the lines.  At one point all of Central Beach lost power, but they got a lot of it restored quickly.  There were considerable amounts of lines in the backyards of properties, which made it difficult to get some repairs done and that is why there were staggered outages in that area.  They utilized all certified law enforcement personnel to assist with security along Ocean Drive, Miracle Mile, downtown along 14th Avenue, and Royal Palm Pointe, because those are the major retail centers.  They had crews cleaning up the City Parks on Saturday and the lifeguards were back on duty on Sunday. 
	Mr. Baczynski stated that the Osceola Park neighborhood has a website where neighbors can communicate and get information.  The Police Department joined their site so they received alerts and information.  It would be helpful if other City departments, especially the Utilities would join in so people could receive updates.  The Utilities could post a notice about where they are working and how long it might be for recovery.  
	Mr. O’Connor explained that they did use the Police Department’s facebook page to publish notifications as well as the City’s website.  Immediately following the storm the City had a follow up meeting to discuss where they fell short and communication was the main issue.  The Electric Department is also going to set up its own facebook page.  The City already has an emergency notification system on order and hopes to have it in place by January.  It will be utilized for all of the City utilities, but customers will need to register with a phone number so they can receive notices.
	Mrs. Moss said that Mr. Fletcher told her that he was in contact with Mr. O’Connor every 15 to 20 minutes during the storm and she feels they did a great job.  She agrees that communication with the public is a problem they have had for a long time.
	Mr. O’Connor commented that he relies on the news agencies and they all have his cell phone number.  It was decided that he would be the Public Information Officer for the City during the storm and most of the information flowed through him that was given to the press.  Osceola Park was another issue for the City, because there are so many trees and a lot of them are old.     
	Mr. Mechling stated that Mr. Roger Kelly, Crew Chief, who was restoring power in his neighborhood was very positive, gracious, and an excellent representative of the City.  They were an efficient and extremely tight crew that worked hard to get the job done in a professional manner. 
	Mr. O’Connor said he appreciates that feedback, because these crews were working 12 to 15 hour shifts a day.  They made sure that the crews were not too tired to work to keep them safe.  
	Mrs. Moss thanked Mr. O’Connor and the City staff for all their hard work.  She said they did a wonderful job.
	Mr. Mucher said that he read somewhere that FMEA coordinated the recovery and asked if that was true. 
	Mr. O’Connor replied that FMEA was involved and they knew what crews came into the State.  The City was working through the American Public Power Association (APPA) who dispatched the crews, but APPA goes through the State organization that handles that.  The City utilized independent private line crews that they have contracts with first and then the APPA crews arrived about 24 hours after the storm.  
	Mr. Mucher reported that the crews picking up the vegetation are blocking off entire sections of roads without any signs indicating “road closed” or “men working”.  He suggested that the City have portable signs available for the contractors to use in situations like this.  
	B) Review of Signage and Educational Material for STEP System – Mr. Rob Bolton, Water and Sewer Director
	Mrs. Moss explained that she saw a presentation on the Septic Tank Effluent Pump (“STEP”) System during a City Council meeting, so she invited Mr. Rob Bolton, Water and Sewer Director, to their meeting to give the same presentation.  She said it is good to get complete information out to the community about the STEP system. 
	Mr. Bolton explained that what they are experiencing is that most of the STEP system connections they are making are due to septic tank failures.  A new installation of a septic system will last about 25 years.  The drain field normally fails first and has to be replaced, but the life expectancy will usually only be another 10 to 15 years.  What he sees on the Barrier Island is that the older homes from the 1950’s and 1960’s are experiencing problems and want to change over to the STEP system.  At this time it is not a mandatory connection program, unless there is a failure of the drain field.  If the drain field fails then people either need to connect to the STEP system or the sewer system if it is available. 
	Mrs. Moss commented that Mr. Bolton is trying to encourage people to partake in the STEP system or at least think about it prior to septic tank failure.  She said she believes that there are also informational signs about the system.
	Mr. Bolton said that Mr. Charlie Pope retired from the Youth Sailing Foundation and he has a real concern about the Indian River Lagoon, so he teamed up with Mrs. Orcutt and they came up with some ideas for signs.  At the last City Council meeting it was approved that the City can purchase the signs.  When a customer signs up for the STEP system installation they will provide the contractor with a sign for the homeowner to place in their yard.  They have not finalized the details, but the signs will be promotional in nature.  The next area that will be receiving notifications about the STEP system will be the Live Oak area.  The notifications start a time clock for an incentive plan that was approved by City Council.  It offers a 30 or 35 percent savings if homeowners connect within a year of being notified.  They anticipate several people will sign up at that time. 
	Mr. Auwaerter asked if the contractor or the City installs the portion of the system that is on the customer’s property. 
	Mr. Bolton stated that it is done by the septic tank contractor.  The lines in the right-of-way are done by the City or a hired contractor, but the homeowner hires a septic tank contractor that has been certified to install the STEP system.  
	Mr. Auwaerter asked what is the warranty from the private contractor. 
	Mr. Bolton explained that the minute the system is installed the customer is completely covered by the City for the life of the system.  The homeowner’s warranty includes filters, pump replacements, repairs, pump outs, etc.  The City has a five (5) year warranty from the company that supplies all the parts and pieces and that starts once it is installed. 
	Mr. Auwaerter commented that if this information is not on the City’s website it should be.  
	Mr. Bolton continued by making a presentation of the components of the STEP System and how it works.  He said if the homeowners cannot use or chooses not to use the existing septic tank and drain field then there is a 500-gallon chamber under the basin.  This design will provide about 350 gallon of storage incase the power goes out, which is about 3 or 4 days of back up for a typical size home.
	Mr. Teston asked if this was a gravity type system, or if a pump is required to use the bathroom facilities. 
	Mr. Bolton replied that it is a gravity system.  However, if the drain field is not being used they will only have what room is remaining in the basin and the septic tank before they will start to notice a sluggish system, which is estimated at about 350 gallons.   
	Mr. Teston asked if larger homes with more people can have more than one system. 
	Mr. Bolton replied yes.  They can be customized for larger estate homes, multi-family homes, etc. 
	Mr. Bolton continued showing and explaining the other components of the STEP system.
	Mr. Auwaerter asked how often do they clean the filters in the biotech tube.  
	Mr. Bolton stated that the filter is cleaned about every two (2) years.  It is a very simple procedure where they remove the dirty filter, insert a clean filter, and the dirty filter is taken away to be pressure washed.  The system also has alarms that will sound to notify the owner if certain problems should occur. 
	Mr. Mechling asked if the pump is low enough voltage that people could turn it on while using a generator.  
	Mr. Bolton replied that it is a half horsepower pump and only requires 110 voltage and 12.9 amps, so it will be connected to any 20-amp circuit in the home.  He showed the control panel and explained that it has a standard plug at the bottom for a generator and a switch inside that changes it from main to generator.
	Mr. Baczynski asked where is the control panel installed.  
	Mr. Bolton explained that it will be on the outside of the house convenient to where the STEP system is installed so it can be seen while they work on the system.  
	Mr. Baczynski asked if the alarms will also be recorded at the Water and Sewer Department so they are aware of a problem. 
	Mr. Bolton replied that there is a spot in the control panel for a monitoring device, but they are not using them until they have more systems in place.  It will notify the City if there is a high-level alarm, a communication failure, or a low-level/long running pump alarm.  He said the least expensive option is the set up that he just showed them, which cost $2,425 for the equipment and about $3,000 for installation.  A full replacement with the 500-gallon tank plus this equipment will cost about $7,000 to $7,500.  The total cost for an average 3-bedroom home will be $5,200 to $7,200 including the discount if the homeowner has it installed within one year of being notified.  He explained that the City decided to give a credit of $290 to property owners who have existing septic tanks on their property. 
	Mr. Baczynski asked if a customer has the STEP with a failed drain field and there is a power failure, will it automatically flow over into the drain field even though it has failed. 
	Mr. Bolton explained that if a customer has a sluggish drain field that is not bubbling up through the ground they can still use this version of the STEP system.  If a drain field is not used for a few years the bacteria has time to clean up the drain field and it will be fine for any overflow if it happens. 
	Mr. Teston said the City needs to make sure people know where to get immediate information on the STEP system. 
	Mr. Bolton explained that if people go to www.COVB.org, or Google septic tank affluent pump they will be directed to the City’s website site and there is an app that people can download.  The app breaks it down and will guide them through the information easier than the website.  When they send out future letters they will include the information on connecting to the app. 
	C) Discussion of Installation of STEP System (Canopied Streets) with Regard to Proposed Change in Code Sec. 71.14 Rights-of-Way Required to be Improved – Mr. Rob Bolton, Water and Sewer Director
	Mrs. Moss stated Mrs. Marylou Hammond submitted a letter expressing her concerns about the STEP system and the trees along canopied streets. 
	Mr. Bolton explained that Mrs. Hammond has fought to make sure the tree canopies in Central Beach remain there for 45 to 50 years.  The City had to install a new water line down her street and they are connecting the last couple of customers.  Mrs. Hammond was just worried about having another opening in the street in that heavily canopied area.  Forty years ago it was determined that the Central Beach area was fine for septic systems, but back then there was no concern about nutrient loading into the Lagoon.  However, in the last five (5) years fertilizer Ordinances and septic sewer conversions have been established.  He said he explained to Mrs. Hammond that he had received calls from residents in Central Beach about converting to the STEP system.  Mrs. Hammond asked him if the City could leave certain streets until last.  He said that she understands if someone needs to connect to the STEP system that they have to provide it, but she would prefer they wait as long as possible to run the lines.  That decision would be up to the Utility Commission who previously voted to move forward with the canopy streets. 
	Mrs. Moss said that Mrs. Hammond told her that this is one of the last Oak hammocks in the State.  There is a real value to these trees beyond their natural beauty.
	Mr. Bolton said that the way those canopy trees are in the Central Beach area he would not suggest running gravity sewer in there, because the roads are so narrow.  However, the STEP system would not disrupt the trees root base by running a pipe under the ground.  Oak trees have a shallow root structure of about two (2) feet, but the pipe for the STEP system is about three (3) feet deep.  
	Mr. Auwaerter asked what is the diameter of the opening they are creating underground. 
	Mr. Bolton replied that it is about 4-inches in diameter for the 2-inch pipe.  They literally push a pole through the ground and pull the 2-inch pipe back through it.  
	Mr. Auwaerter commented that the impact on the root system of a decent size tree is very minimal. 
	Mrs. Orcutt said that Mr. Bolton has the experience installing lines on other streets.  These are not the only canopy streets the City has and they have not had any problems with affecting the trees.  
	Mr. Bolton stated that he only made one (1) change to the revised Ordinance that they received (on file in the City Clerk’s office).  He added the statement (except a septic tank effluent pump “STEP” sewer system installed by directional boring methods) to the Ordinance, but the rest is just general changes to make the wording more standardized.
	Dr. Lapointe said that in Mrs. Hammond’s letter she stated that there was a study done. 
	Mr. Bolton replied that it was a Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) study and they are trying to determine what type of credit that cities could get for converting from septic systems to sewer.  DEP started creating a model of the areas and establishing credits based on how far the properties were from the Lagoon, but they ran into some problems with their calibrations of their testing system.  He said Mrs. Hammond wants to wait on the study, but he is not sure it will ever be completed. 
	Mrs. Orcutt asked Mr. Bolton if he needs support to move ahead (with the Ordinance).
	Mr. Bolton stated if the Commission could vote on it to indicate they looked at it and approve the language changes then he can report that to the City Council and to the Planning and Zoning Board.  
	Mrs. Orcutt made a motion to accept the language changes to the Ordinance.  Mr. Auwaerter seconded the motion.  On a roll call vote the motion passed 7-0 with Mr. Baczynski voting yes, Mr. Teston voting yes, Dr. Lapointe voting yes, Mr. Mechling voting yes, Mrs. Orcutt voting yes, Mr. Auwaerter voting yes, and Mrs. Moss voting yes. 
	Mrs. Orcutt suggested posting this video segment on the City’s website, because it clarifies a lot of issues.  It would be another way of getting the information to the customers. 
	Mr. Teston asked how much is the customer’s monthly bill for the STEP system. 
	Mr. Bolton replied that the minimum bill is $19.89 and then it is based on their  water usage up to 10,000 gallons.  The maximum bill will be just under $56.00, but for a typical household the bill will be in the $35.00 to $40.00 range.   
	D) Third Quarter FY 15-16 Electric Utility Rate Sufficiency Study – Mr. James O’Connor, City Manager 
	This item was discussed before item 4-A)
	Ms. Cindy Lawson, Finance Director, stated that the handout they received is the third quarter Electric Utility Rate Sufficiency (on file in the City Clerk’s office).  This is where they take the actual sales, revenue, and expenses from the purchased power providers and compare them to the original forecast.  Just to make it clear, sometimes their original forecast does not match the adopted budget.  As a result of this analysis which ended June 2016, the City Staff recommended that they further lower the purchase power cost from $63.15 per 1,000 kWh to $61.65 per 1,000 kWh effective October 15, 2016.  That is a decrease of about 1.3 percent on a typical 1,000 kWh bill.  This analysis was reviewed by their rate consultant and they concur with this recommendation pending the completion of the rate study.  They are asking to set up a joint meeting of the Finance Commission and the Utilities Commission on November 15th to look at the results of the rate study, which will include the 2015/2016 actual and 2016/2017 adopted budget.  The rate consultant feels this rate reduction is sustainable over the next year.  She pointed out that this analysis is updated to reflect the latest cost estimates for staffing, the closure of the Power Plant, and the estimate of funds required for capital projects as a result of the optimization study.  
	Mr. Auwaerter stated it appears there were two (2) primary drivers of this decrease.  The sales actually went up from their forecast and the Orlando Utilities Commission (OUC) power costs were slightly lower. 
	Ms. Lawson said that is a good analysis.  It was a really hot summer, so that impacted the sales.  The OUC forecast was based on what they thought it would be at the time they renegotiated the contract, so they are doing a little better. 
	Mr. Auwaerter asked if OUC was passing through lower fuel costs. 
	Ms. Lawson replied that she does not know that. 
	Mr. Auwaerter said he thinks that is important to understand, because the Utility Commission signed off on that contract on the basis that they would get lower costs from OUC that is separate from the purchase power cost.  He said he does a monthly analysis of other municipal electric utilities, which is shown on the spreadsheet that he provided to the Utility Commission members (on file in City Clerk’s office).  He said that he looks at the other 33 electric utilities and in particular Fort Pierce, because they are similar in size to Vero Beach.   
	Ms. Lawson said that her understanding is that Fort Pierce is utilizing a reserve that they created from having extra revenue to rate stabilize and decrease the actual cost from what it would be to cover expenses as they sit right now.  Once that extra revenue is gone their rates will have to rise.  
	Mr. Auwaerter said that since they are not gaining much ground against Fort Pierce and Orlando, he would like to know if the OUC contract is helping them on the basis of the base power rate and not just the purchase costs going down.   
	Ms. Lawson explained that she deals more with the bottom line figures and is not the correct person to do a detailed analysis of the individual components of the OUC contract as compared to what the expectations were. 
	Mrs. Moss asked Ms. Lawson if she could ask the rate consultants to address that question and provide them with information beforehand so they will be prepared to discuss this subject at their November meeting.
	Ms. Lawson explained that the rate consultants are not necessarily the right people to do a detailed cost analysis of the elements of the OUC contract.  That would be more of an item for Mr. Bill Harrington and Attorney Scheff Wright to address, because they were the individuals who negotiated that contract and they have the best understanding of it.  
	Mr. Auwaerter stated that they receive bills from OUC that break down the fuel and other costs, so he believes the City should be able to do an analysis.
	Mrs. Moss asked if the City could provide that information to the Utilities Commission.
	Mr. O’Connor replied that they will try their best, but it might require the assistance of Mr. Harrington and Mr. Wright to do the analysis. 
	Mrs. Moss asked how many rate consultants does the City utilize and how much has been spent on them in the past fiscal year.
	Ms. Lawson replied that there is only one (1) rate consultant, which is Public Resources Management Group (PRMG) and their initial work authorization was for about $35,000.  PRMG got to the point where they were going to set rates, but that got put on hold while the City renegotiated the OUC contract and handled the closure of the Power Plant, both of which impacted their costs.  PRMG has now reinvigorated it and she believes they will be completing it for about the same amount of money.
	Mrs. Moss asked if Mr. Harrington bills separately from PRMG.
	Ms. Lawson explained that Mr. Harrington is a separate consultant through Mr. Wright’s firm as part of the OUC contract.  
	Mr. O’Connor stated that these are two (2) different functions they are discussing.  The rate consultant are doing the rate study and projecting the rate analysis.  The renegotiation of the OUC contract became a legal issue when the City took the position on wanting to shorten the terms of the contract and this is where Mr. Harrington and Mr. Wright came in.  
	Mrs. Moss asked what is the mission or goal of PRMG. 
	Mr. O’Connor replied their job is to set their rates going forward and to review the rates opposed to the way the City has been doing it in the past.  Ms. Lawson looks at the expenditures versus the revenue to determine the rates.  PRMG will break that down to identify what costs are associated with fees and the rates the City charges.  The City has a standing contract with PRMG that they will review the rates over time to make sure they are still on course. 
	Mrs. Moss said that she is wondering what the value is of this, because the City has already paid Gardner Bist over a million dollars.  If they are only seeing periodic decreases of 1.3 percent, it is not significant enough that customers will actually notice it in their bills.  
	Mr. O’Connor explained that the million dollars paid to Gardner Bist is not just for the OUC contract.  It is also for defense for the City and when the County sued the City.   
	Mrs. Moss asked what portion of the bills are devoted to rates.
	Ms. Lawson replied that every time she pays a Gardner Bist bill she provides the City Clerk with a copy of the break down by billing matters.  The City is required to do periodic rate studies and publish rate sheets.  Since 2009 the City staff has done a good job of managing to the bottom line and building reserves.  However, they have not updated the old rate sheets and they need that for a variety of reasons.  Over time the established rates drift away from the actual demographic, so they have to consider if the costs have been assigned to the proper portions of the rates.  That is the function of a rate consultant.
	Mr. O’Connor stated the rate sheets are also submitted to the Public Service Commission to make sure they are treating all of the rate classes equally.  The Public Service Commission posts the City’s rate structures, which has to be certified through a rate consultant. 
	Ms. Lawson said that in the preliminary rate study they discovered that in some areas the City was over recovering in one part of a rate and under recovering in another part.  Anytime they tweak a portion of the rates they have an impact on some customer class.  When they start making adjustments to rates they look at the impacts to the different customer classes and they continue to move things around until they reach a point where they think it is equitable.  That is a function of a rate consultant as well.
	Mrs. Moss stated that she just wants the breakdown on what is being spent on rate consultants.  
	Mr. O’Connor replied that he will have it provided to the City Clerk’s office. 
	Mr. Mark Mucher, City resident, stated that the City’s residential rates are still 30% higher than FP&L rates even with this minimal decrease.  He said that a lot of the candidates running for City Council are talking about further reductions of rates, but when the OUC contract was renegotiated the last projected rate reduction was October 1, 2016.  According to that document the rates will now be trending up for the City of Vero Beach.  When the City Council was discussing the partial sale they refused to ask the rate consultant what the impact of a $30 million dollar cash influx would do, but he believes it would have reduced the rates.  The power cost may have reduced a little bit, but they are in a better position because the City’s revenue has increased more than the power costs.  These little decreases that the customers have been receiving are reflected in lower purchase power costs, but he would like to know where the increased revenue is reflected in the customers utility bills. 
	Ms. Lawson explained that with the current rate sheets, the only component of cost they can reduce or modify on a quarterly basis is the purchase power costs.  The point of the PRMG rate study was to analyze all of the components of the rates against the costs so they are ready to discuss what buckets the rate decreases should fall into.  This will be addressed at the November 15th joint meeting. 
	Mr. Peter Gorry, Finance Commission Chairman, stated that the second largest utility in the State of Florida has 1.7 million customers and has a rate that is $4.84 a month less than the City of Vero Beach.  There are three (3) other regulated utilities in the State that average $134.00 per month for residential customers.  The average residential usage for City of Vero Beach customers is 1,060 kWh.  If they take away Indian River Shores the average usage would be 950 kWh with a new rate of $110.00.  Indian River Shores residential usage is up to 40% higher than the non-Indian River Shores customers.  The discussion that Indian River Shores is 8.7% of the total kWh usage does not mean they are 8.7% of the revenues. 
	Mr. Auwaerter said he disagrees.  It is in Mr. Wright’s analysis and he should look at it.  
	Mr. Gorry said it is incorrect to say that 8.7%  of kWh is equal to 8.7% of the revenues because it is a tiered structure.  Usage of over 1,000 kWh kicks into the next billing tier.  He believes that Mr. Wright is understating the amount of revenue.  He said he does not even know how many customers there are in Indian River Shores.  Based on the report, the estimate is 3,000 to 3,400
	E) All Requirements Project, FMPA Matters – Mr. James O’Connor, City Manager
	Mr. O’Connor stated that he received a report from Ms. Lawson and since November 2014 when they engaged PRMG to review the rates the City has spent $40,867.00.  When PRMG got involved in the   OUC contract it was $41,085.00, so that is what they have been paid to date.  He stated that the All Requirements project has not really changed and he periodically listens to their Board meetings.  The policies they have in place are good and they are not extending debt anymore.  The debt service will not be extended on one (1) of the OUC plants, so some of the debt service will start to go away and it will be reflected in their rates. 
	Mrs. Moss stated that the fact that they dropped the penalty cost by $13 million dollars was favorable to the City. 
	Mr. O’Connor replied that the big figure was from the Taylor Swaps.  The City’s position was that they were not part of the Taylor Swaps and they had already given their notice that they were exiting.  They were able to pull up some Public Service Commission (PSC) records that showed their testimony excluded Vero Beach.   
	Mr. Auwaerter stated that FMPA is only looking at one side of the income statement.  They say there are all these total costs that have to be spread out among all the participants.  Vero Beach is not part of it, but they are still on the hook for it.  FMPA does not think of the revenue side.  To take this to an extreme, if everyone dropped out except one (1) the last participant would own all the equity.  Their calculations don’t take into account that Vero Beach must have some equity in ownership since they have some costs.  He is really troubled by their methodology.  
	F) Solar Power Survey Update – Vice Chairman Auwaerter
	Mr. Auwaerter reported that the Task Force had a series of long conference calls.  They put out a request for proposals to several folks and gave them a basic list of items they had to respond to.  The evaluation was done by looking at their operational factors such as does the organization make the calls themselves versus subcontracting it,  do they use computer assisted telephone interviewing  (CATI), do they have expertise in putting together solar surveys, cost, and project time.  It was a scoring system and there was fair consistency in picking the top three (3).  The organization that was picked was Great Blue.  His big concern with them is that they did not talk at all about other solar surveys they did.  That weighed heavily with him, but the other members on the Task Force felt comfortable that they would help them put together a good solar survey.  Great Blue did come in at a lower cost than the others.    
	Mr. O’Connor said the other issue was if they were going to survey commercial businesses.  The City agreed to do that, but there is an additional cost.  The cost is based on number of customers they choose to survey, but they will only be paying for complete responses and not partial surveys.  The City made up a list of smaller mom and pop shops along Ocean Drive and in downtown along 14th Avenue where they felt that the person answering the call could actually make a decision on what could take place with solar energy. 
	Dr. Lapointe asked if the raw data from the surveys will be available to the public. 
	Mr. Auwaerter replied that it was his understanding that all the data would be available, but they may screen the names and addresses. 
	Mr. O’Connor commented that all the data is public information, but you may need to go to the provider of the service and pay to get names and addresses. 
	Mrs. Orcutt asked if this company is going to create the questions or will it be the Committee. 
	Mr. Auwaerter said it will probably be a combination. 
	Mr. Baczynski asked if there was a time line for this. 
	Mr. O’Connor said that he got the impression it would be done by the first of the year.
	Mr. Auwaerter said the time line is factored on putting the survey together and they are trying to organize people from around the State.  Great Blue had an aggressive time line that he thought was unrealistic compared to the other companies.  They want to get a report to the FMPA Board of Directors by early February.  
	5. OLD BUSINESS 
	A) Distribution of Information by the City Clerk’s Office
	Mrs. Moss stated that when items are voted on by their Commission it is a recommendation to the City Council, but she was informed that they do not get submitted just as separate recommendations.  She asked Mrs. Tammy Bursick, City Clerk, if that is correct.
	Mrs. Tammy Bursick, City Clerk, explained that the City Council receives copies of their minutes to read through.  If there is something that they would like to specifically point out to the City Council she recommends that a separate cover letter be typed up and the minutes will be attached.  That is a sure sign that they didn’t miss anything while reading the minutes. 
	Mrs. Moss said she feels that it should go as a separate piece of information and not imbedded in several pages of minutes.  That does not seem like a logical or efficient method and not just for this Commission, but for all Commissions. 
	Mr. Auwaerter said for an example Mr. Bolton asked for support on the Ordinance of the STEP system and they made a motion that was passed.  It seems like the City Council would like to know about that separately.    
	Mrs. Bursick replied that on items like this they will note it on the memo that the Utility Commission voted unanimously to accept the Ordinance.  With a lot of these items the Finance Director will send them to the City Council stating that the information has gone to the various Commissions. 
	Mrs. Moss said she believes that anything that is voted on by any of the Commissions should be addresses separately.  
	Mrs. Bursick said that there is no problem sending a memo to the City Council listing the items that were voted on and the outcome. 
	Mrs. Moss asked if they can automatically do a memo and make sure the other Commissions and Boards are handled the same way. 
	Mrs. Bursick replied yes they can handle it the same way for the other Commissions.   
	Mr. Gorry explained that any recommendations made by the Finance Commission are either put on the City Council agenda or are presented by himself or another Finance Commission member at the City Council meeting. 
	6. CHAIRMAN’S MATTERS
	None
	7. MEMBER’S MATTERS
	None
	8. ADJOURNMENT
	Mr. Auwaerter made a motion to adjourn today’s meeting at 11:42 a.m.  Mr. Mechling seconded the motion and it passed unanimously. 
	/rh


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Gray Gamma 2.2)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.6
  /CompressObjects /All
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket true
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /UseDeviceIndependentColor
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType true
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo false
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Remove
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile (North America Web/Internet)
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
    /Arial-Black
    /Arial-BlackItalic
    /Arial-BoldItalicMT
    /Arial-BoldMT
    /Arial-ItalicMT
    /ArialMT
    /ArialNarrow
    /ArialNarrow-Bold
    /ArialNarrow-BoldItalic
    /ArialNarrow-Italic
    /CenturyGothic
    /CenturyGothic-Bold
    /CenturyGothic-BoldItalic
    /CenturyGothic-Italic
    /CourierNewPS-BoldItalicMT
    /CourierNewPS-BoldMT
    /CourierNewPS-ItalicMT
    /CourierNewPSMT
    /Georgia
    /Georgia-Bold
    /Georgia-BoldItalic
    /Georgia-Italic
    /Impact
    /LucidaConsole
    /Tahoma
    /Tahoma-Bold
    /TimesNewRomanMT-ExtraBold
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-ItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPSMT
    /Trebuchet-BoldItalic
    /TrebuchetMS
    /TrebuchetMS-Bold
    /TrebuchetMS-Italic
    /Verdana
    /Verdana-Bold
    /Verdana-BoldItalic
    /Verdana-Italic
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 150
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 150
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 150
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 150
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects true
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<


    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e55464e1a65876863768467e5770b548c62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc666e901a554652d965874ef6768467e5770b548c52175370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>



    /HUN <>
    /ITA (Utilizzare queste impostazioni per creare documenti Adobe PDF adatti per visualizzare e stampare documenti aziendali in modo affidabile. I documenti PDF creati possono essere aperti con Acrobat e Adobe Reader 6.0 e versioni successive.)
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020be44c988b2c8c2a40020bb38c11cb97c0020c548c815c801c73cb85c0020bcf4ace00020c778c1c4d558b2940020b3700020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken waarmee zakelijke documenten betrouwbaar kunnen worden weergegeven en afgedrukt. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 6.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>


    /SKY <>

    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>

    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents suitable for reliable viewing and printing of business documents.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 6.0 and later.)
  >>
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [600 600]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


